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Ceographic Integration of Industry on the Wynants Kill 1316-1911

By Fobert Dalton Harms & Diame DeBlois
Introduction

The Wynants Kill is a very small tributary of the Hudson River — just 14.1 miles long with a drainage basin of 29.1
square miles — but it falls seme B30 fect, notably down the steps of three shale overthrusts, each providing maoy excellent
sites for the development of water power, The stream draws our attention because of its rapid industrialization leading 1o the
powering of the largest waterwheel in the world by mid- 19" century'; and for the conperative organization of its waterpower
i the wake of the 1820 court decision of Merritt vs. BrinkerholT.”

These two exemplifications - extrinsic and intnnsic; technological and gecgraphical — are complementary, the warp and
welt of social networks. We leam Irom the Wiynants Kill how peographuc patiern becomes implicit in commuxnity, relieving
the need for explicit controd in the economic result. We learn how the multiple choices of technalogy serve communal needs.
Ina way, geography is the Invisible Hand shaping the commercial potential of the stream.”

Unlike the Hudson River and most of its tributarics, the Wynants Eill drains northward. When the glaciers retreated,
gravels left behind in the watersheds of streams that drained southward were flushed downstream. In the Wynants Kill and its
chain of small lakes, they remained as deposils 1o operate as ideal water holding sinks. Jedediah Morse observed that no New
Yorker is more than 20 miles {or a day’s hike) from a navigable waterway* So, too, with the Wynants Kill watershed: but
Implicit in the remark is the role of waler altogether, not only in the shaping of the land over time but also in the daly {all,

When Henry Hudson zailed into the Llargest [tesh water tidal estuary in the world looking for a global sca route, he i gl
have been disappointed that navigation ended at what would become Albany, Bul the Patroon Van Rensselaer who was Ziven
development rights to the area under the Dutch West Tndia company recognized the walery advantages. His 1,152 square
miles were the gateway toc an ocean port (and global markets); the Mohawk River leading west {especially imporiant once
canalized), the valley going north o Lakes George and Champlain to the 51, Lawrence River. The Fatroon system of feudal
sefllement begun in 1629 was maintuncd in 1685 under British Royal Charter, and upheld by the new Republic.

Wil Site Lenses

Stephen Van Rensselaer 11, in taking over the management of the Manor of Rensselaerwyck in 1785, was nol inferested
in mere tenant subsistence bot med to his watersheds for commercial gain. The contracts drawn up with the fenants of
farms surveyed in 1788 for the Patroon by Job Gilbert and Fvert Van Alen {along the Wynants Kill and throushout
“Middictown’ as well as the other areas of Rensselacrwyek) rented the farmer the use of the land and required him to pay the
laxes while the Patrocas retained the water and timber nghts, and extracted onc quarter of the sale price every time the farm
wits s0ld. Van Rensselaer had every intention of leasing the water privileges separately and advantageously.” (Evenrually, 19
waler privileges were engineered on the Wynants Kill. This paper 15 based on our editing a local history initiative 1o fully
map these 19 sies, and untangle the mill histories ar cach™) He rented WP 11 o Joshua Lockwood & William Carpenter in
1768 and WP 1 10 David DeFreest in 17593 to build grist mills - one 1o grind local produce for sale. one to commercially
process grain shipped from the Mohawk and Champlain valleys. The site at the mouth of the Wynants Kill is obvionsly close
by miverine trnsportation {though Troy wasn't founded nntil 1789), but the site upstream is nol so obvious — the bamlet of
Ulinesville (now West Sand Lake) had vel to be established, But the course of the ‘King's Road,' built 1752 to 1754 from
Bath {now Rensselacr, opposite Albany on the Thedson) to Deerfield in Massachuselrs intersected the Woymants Kill a1 the site
of this first grist mill.” WP 1 and WP 11: river and road gave these grist mills greater market reach.

The site at WE 19 (also near the King's Road) had been leased to Mead Mermill for a saw mill in 1797, B, even though
Mermll leased an adjacent 209 acre parcel and was productive, Van Rensselaer terminated his and a neighboring Fanmer’ s
leases in 1806 to build a Glass Factory in which he had a financial stake. As with the early saw mills (1758 leascs to Fonda
and DieFreest at WE 12 and 10 John Cranncl at W 13; 1788 lease to Spencer at WP 18; 1820 to Gregory at WI* 15) the glass
factory consumed the standing forests in the watershed (the plentiful sand needed 1o be heated to temperature by a charcoal
firck, and actually had moved o the Wyoants Kill having exhausted its woodlods on the west side of the Hudson, These
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factories were only profitable as long as there were adequate local resources. The glass making business at WT* 19 wen
through seven different company reorganizations before rumning out of fuel in 1852, By the same date all the saw mills
mentioned above were in the exnle business.

Mill Site Interdependency

Geography places mill owners along the same waterway in a de Taclo cooperative sitiiion - a hieracrchy of relations
sceording 1o positions on the stream which can be read form the mowth o the head, or vice versa, whether ¥ou are inferested
in water power Or waler control. The water privilege lessees along the Wynants Kill bad also in common the threat of lease
termination. The *Merritt vs Brinkerhofl court case in 1820 emphasized their mterdependency. At the mouth of the Kill,
waler pnvilege #1 was held by Daniel and Jacob Memitt who operated a flour mill. Upstream, at water privilege #2, John
Brinkerhoff had erected a 28 Mool high dam o control flow o a waler wheel operating a rodling and slitting mill. Ta
overcome low water flow in the dry summer of 1815, Brinkerhoff had temporarily elosed the control mate on the flume,
storing the water in his mill pond while the iron was heated to rolling temperature, and then opened the gate — interfenng
with the Merritts” grist mill. The Mermitts won the suit with $700 damages.®

In the wake of the assertion of Merrifts’ rights, and after private arrangements began to be made 1o safeguard water
supply.” the mill operators decided to create a cooperative association. In 1829, the Wynants Kill Association was formyed 1o
shape and controd the lakes that discharged into the stream, and to draw down and drain the lakes in & way that would be most
useful to the mill operators. The rationing of responsibility for costs was commensurate with the power extraction of their
respective mills. At first, the proportionment was with shares: one to cach member at or below the Lline Grist Mill at WP 11,
fractional shares to members above according to water use, With recrsanization in 1848, as the Wynants Kill limprovement
Association, a fresh judgment was made for proportioning each mill owner's share according to the diameter of the water
wheel, the volume of water used, and position on the stream: those nearer the headwaters presumed (o have less interest in
downsiream improvements. ™

Commillees at each lake oversaw the construction of dams and negotiated with farmers for appropriate reservoir levels,
Uates, closed at night and opened at dawn {or on whatever schedule might suwit downsiresm needs), maintained a Tlow
sufficient to run the mills, conserving water. Under the aegis of the Association, mill owners could better coaperale with the
wwnship governments in the watershed, as well as with individual land holders. When the dam, buill by Richard Knowlson
wha owned the glass factory al WE 19, was washed away in an 1846 flood, the Association allotted 3700 for its rebuilding.
When the cost exceeded that, the Town of Sand Lake agreed 1o pay the $197.25 deficit in refurn for using the top of the dam
as @ night of way for a road. This road is shown passing 1o the right in Joseph Hidley's painting of Glass Lake' (see
reproduction of painting, and map), past the Control Gate House on Glass Lake Road (leaving the Wynants Kill for the
Kinderhook watershed draining south).

Eventually, the power of the Association was sufficient even to help end the controd of the Patroon over the water
prvileges. Stephen Van Rensselaer died in 1839, and his successor as Patroon, William Van Rensselaer, had a heavier hand
with the mill owners. An Anti-Hen! Association was formed under the leadership of Smith H. Boughton, MDD, who lived
near the headwaters of the Kill, and George Cipperly, the lessee of WP 12 who was secretary-freasurer. In 1844 Van
Rensselaer served papers on Cippery for back rent, threatening 1o destroy the dam at his factory site. The Wynants Kill
Association rallied to his aid, and in 1845 convineed the Patroon to allow them to incorporate and purchase the flood lands of
the Kill.

Links with Rensselaer Polytechnde Institute

The more enlightened self-interest of Stephen Van Rensselacr extended 1o importing the leadership and for fostering the
scientific development that stimulated industrial growth along the Kill. Knowing he was on the lookout for talent, the U.S.
Minister to Great Batan sent a Scot, Henry Burden, 1o him with letters of introduction o 1219 Burden’ s inventive e
and crgamizational savvy led to the Wynants Kill powering the largest waterwheel in the world'™ and 1o Troy becoming the
horsehos capital of the nation.

Van Hensselaer wanted Lo train genius a3 well as import it — and founded the Rensselaer School in Troy in 1824 (later
Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, RPT) to fulfill Amos Faton's innovative program for the “application of scicoce 1o the
common purposes of life.™* (He had earlier commissioned Eaton 1o make an 1819 survey of his lands for more
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productivity™). Waterways were, from the beginning, on the curriculum. The school's first site was on the U.S. Lock £1 in
ihe stale dam on the Hudson (a system of hydrological power which was more like the Lowell mills model™, In 1835 it
moved to the ald ¥Van der Heyden mansion on the hill above Troy through which ran a rll draining a pond atop the same
shell of land down which the Wynants Kill finally nembles, Faton called it Laboratory Creck.” to augment his announced
course of study which emphasized practical caginesring to understand the force and application 10 machinery of watcr, steam,
wind and animal power.

The men who leased the waler privileges and bl mills were, within the Patroon's hierarchy and through their own
Associalion, in a relationship of anthonty in their communitics They not only provided jobs, apd contributed 1o a cash
coonomy, they almost naturally took over the leadership of town councils, bank boards of directors, and inliiatives to huild
roads, canals, railroeds &c. Many of them were Trustees of, or otherwise affiliated with, BPLY The mills also changed hands
(and direction) fodlowing familial ties.

Industrial Diversity

With the various levels of cooperation in place. the mills could benter respond to change. Instead of developing into a
singhe product mill stream (like the textile mill streams in the Connecticut River valley™ or a paper mill stream in western
Massachusetts™), the industry activity on the Wynants Kill was always diverse.

Al the most local level, there was probably the vertical integration, for instance, of hakery and brewery at the grist mills
of the Wynants Kill — a common pattern Both in the old world and in New England. Certain sites went through several
ownerships, but remained dedicated to the same kind of manufactere, The glass factory sile at WP 19 wasn't again wsed for
industry after the business moved to Massachusents chasing trees. The grist mill at WE 11 ground grain from 1768 1o 1951 -
though it branched out into cider pressing in the antmn, WP 1 hosted a grist mill 1o produce commercial prade flour o 1358
hen was gobbled up by the Bessemer bebemoth that came to dominate an iron indusiry spreading over the three water
povileges at the stream’ s moulh

We'll look more closely at two of these “dedicated” sites, for their own development, and for their influence on other
mills om the Kill.

The first is WF 4, the site of the first paper making mill oo the stream in 1802 — operated by David Buel who moved to
Troy in 1797 and began making a superior royal prnting paper from rags ground with water power. In the 18208 amd 18305
there was a severe shortage of rags for paper, and raw cotion was often used direct from southern ficlds Particulardy in Troy,
imventors looked for a way to m almost anything else into paper shurry, Henry Burden's first T3, patent in 1822 was for a
flax and hemp grinding machine for paper pulp, and 6 other Troy arca residents filed patents under the same heading in 1529
anl 1E30. The grist malls of the Wynants Kill could supply all kinds of straw and, for a time, the Kill contributed to Troy
being the straw paper capital of the nation — producing 2 heavy grade of wrapping paper much in demand for milway express
and other mercantile packaging (the largest early straw paper mill was William and Alexander Or's at the sute dam, U.5.
Lock #1, on the Iedson™). Enter the Smart brothers at WP 4,10 1853, Joseph and Andrew turmed 300 tons of straw and 300
tons of coal into 43,000 reams of paper, and in 1873 advertised they could process orders by the railway car full. In 1559,
another brother Robert bought the neighboring flour mill at WP 5 and began making paper. He also bought his brother's mill
in 1873 and renamed it “Gold Leal.” In the expansion moexd, Robert Smart looked upstream to W 13, The 1788 saw wmill
there had had a brief flirtation with fulling and carding wool beginning in 1834 but had been making straw paper since 1854,
Robert Smart bought the mill in 1873, and made 700 tons of straw wrapping paper per vear until 1891, The Smarts are 4 o
example of family specialization. Father Joseph emigrated from England in carly childhood and mamufactured paper fisst in
Hempstead, Long Island. His three sons all worked m the paper mills - only Joseph Jr. bricfly escaping to the California pold
ficlds in 1852 - but none of the men lent their energies otherwise to the community.

David DeFreest began the textile industry on the Wynants Kill around 1800, st WP2 — building a fulling mill to wash
and fluff cut home spum ¢loth and wool. But that site was taken over for good by the iron industry im 1807, Upsiream at WP
&, Gerret Van Schaick shared his goist mill site with 2 bleachery (WP 6a) around 1820 — the latter faciory wsing chenyicals w
bleach and then dress and calender cloth for 1 o 2 cents a yard. The eotion cloth was produced nearby at the Trov Woal amd
Cotton Factory, opened 1812 at WF 8. The three mill sites in the village of Albia, WP 6, 7 and %, are a good example of
community industry. Tobias Schermerhomn first leased the water privilege at WP 8 to build a fulling mill around 1800, Tt was
bought out by a group of Troy merchants and in 1812 enlarged for the manufacture of wool and linen goods — their water-
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powered Spinning Mule could keep 30 1o 40 hand operated looms busy in nearby homes making cloth. In 1813, John and
Marvin White and Randolph Taylor moved to Albia and rented machine and trip hammer shops belonging to the Troy Woal
amd Cotton Factory, lo pat on display the various kinds of cotton machinery they had been making for wse in Rhode Island
and Connecticut factories. Their power looms transformed the factory so that by 1830 2000 spindles and 60 power looms
produced 74,000 pounds of yam woven into 250,000 yards of sheeting,

In 1827, one of the owners of the Troy Wool and Cotton Factory jomed with one of Troy's leading businessmen™ 1o
open a second factory m Albia at another water povilege site (WP 7). They were paised 1o take advantage of the Merino wool
crare. By 1830, this factory had 1000 spindles, 20 power looms to weave satinet (a [ake satin from wool on a codion warp),
and 10 brosd flanme] looms.

A commumty grew up with the two mills. In 1230 70 of the 80 employees at the cotton Tactory were women, amd 75 of
the B0 at the woolen. In 1824, a Mrs, Frost established a nursery Lo care for the children of the workers and a dlay school also
operated throughout the year averaging # 1o 90 stdents

In 1841, another prominent Troy businessman, Stephen Warren, bought into WP 8, becoming manager of what was then
called the Albia Cotlon Factory, and soon Juined by his son Joseph. The Warrens are a good example of familial industry
where the members did nol necessarily specialize (Joseph M. owned a hardware stere) but lent their energies 1o commun iy
opportunities.™ {Like four other mill owmners, Joseph Warren served as Mayor of Troy.)™

In 1854, the relationship among the 3 mill sites was lormalized and they incorporated under the name of Troy Woolen
Co. and assumed a 13% interest in the Wynants Kill lmprovement Association. Its suceess can be measured by the 1855
cemsus. But if can aleo be measured in how quickly the mill building at WP 7 was rebuilt after a fire on Tuly 4, 1857 — by
December they were up and ninning,

In 1867 Troy ranked as the 4° largest wool market in the 1.5, behind Boston, New York and Philadelphia, with sales of
ten million pounds of fleece wool, Wool dealers whose advertisements had appeared in the Troy City Directories in the
previous three decades were, themselves, active in the Wynants Kill mills — Jedediah Tracy (WP 8); John Kerr (WP 18):
Richard J. Knowlson (WPL9: his son James 5. Enowlson, was affiliated with WP 7: his son Andrew B, Enowlson owned W
16); and John Rankin, who wis president of the Albia mill (WF 7) when he died in 1864, But the wool trade in the ares
climaxed after the Civil War, and the Troy Woolen Company went bankrupt in 1870,

What happened then is an interesting move amongst all the textile mills then operating an the stream, By mid-century,
many of the mills upstream of Albia had turned to the different steps in producing woolen cloth, In West Sand Lake, the
Uline family diversified at their water privilege (WP 11) and built a wool carding and cloth dressing mill on the hank
opposite their grist mill around 1855, The Cipperly saw mill at WP 12 had also switched 1o making satinet (weavine woal on
cotton warp) around 1848, In Sand Lake, at WP 14 what had been a satinel and then a cotton factory making “nigger cloth™
for the southern trade was rebuilt as a woolen factory in 1846, At WP 15 the “Sand Take Cotton Factory™ of 1835 mads
cotton warp for the satinet mill upstream at WP 12, where the mill site had processed wool since 1825, and in 1842 was
renamed the “Sand Lake Wool Factory, ™

Then, as the wool indusiry fMlagged in the 1870, all the length of the Kill, the mills switched to knitting from the woolen
yarn In Albia, the Troy Hosiery Mfz. Co. operated from 1875-1884 and then the two mill sites diverged again, into the Alhia
Enitting Mill (yam & stockings) and the Wymnantskill Knitting Mill {shirts & drawers). In West Sand Lake, Akin & Mcl aren
knitted shirts and drawers at WP 11 (the mull at WF 12 failed in 1865). In Sand Lake, the cotion mill continued makini warp,
but at WP 16 the grist mill was replaced by a hosiery mill in 1866, At WP 17, a site that had been tannery off and on since
1523 was purchased in 1862 for a knitting factory (shirs and drawers) by an entreprencur who also converned the WP 15
woolen mill to a hosiery mill.

Disaster of 1891 and Rebuilding

Enitwear alsg i'II:'EH:IIJC-ﬂ:l a fascinating local anomaly: a post-indusrial Nlowering of a complete-system mill town in the
20" century in the hamlet of Averill Park. Although the advent of electrical power generation in the late 19* century as well
a5 steam engines after the Civil War relaxed the geographic constraints on industrial activity and eroded the viahbility of the
smaller mills along the Wynants Kill, the coup-de-grace was one late summer rainstorm of 891 that cansed a freshet to
annihilate mills all down the system (bolts of fabric, cords of wood, reams of paper, and whode mill buildings washed up at
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the mouth of the Kill in Troy, taking out 15 bridgzes including a major milway trestle). Many businesses did not rebuild. But it
could bave been worse.

The Wynantskill Improvement Association in 1889 had hired David Maxon Greene, Professor of Geodesy, Road
Engincering and Topographical Drawing at BP, to survey the dams on the upper lakes of the Kill. He fowsd the dams, dykes.
gates, spill-ways, tumks & to be seriously eroded or underbuilt and made many detailed recommendations 1o make the
whole waler system both safer and more productive. He offered as a cautionary tale the recent devastation in the JTohastown
Flood, The mill owners complied with all his snppestions — which meant that, in the 1891 flood, the lake dams held and
prevented even worse damage.

Peter McCarthy was an experienced mill man, a prominent citizen of Troy, whose summer house was opposite the
abandoned mill siies a1 WP 15 & 16 in Averill Fark. He convinced William . Mahony, a local civic leader, in 1897 to form
it partnership to buy up the old mill buildings and sites, and put the labor force back to work spinning cotton and woel yam
and knitting hosiery ind underwear (Faith Mills). When they expanded after a fire in 1906, the Emitting machines were
powered by steam. Water from the Kill was used for fire profection as well as for washing and scouring of the knit poods,
The partners expanded throughout the first decades of the century, attracting workers to the rural commumty with a
sumptugous Clubhouse in 1919 - complete with dance hall, mofion picture parlor, cafeteria, bowling alleys, pocket balliard
room, and 4 shower room. In 1923 they rebuilt the dam upstream from their operations 1o provide hydro-clectric power (via a
Hodney Hunt water turbine and a 75 kilowatt Westinghouse alternating current generator) for the knitting machines,
Government cootracts providing knit underwear for the military in two world wars kept the factorics bwmaming, In 1939, they
boarght the remaining active factory in West Sand Lake, at WP 122 and operated there from 1940 until 1950: the end for the
whole enterprise was 1956

Industrial Climax and its ‘Portrait’ in 1855 Census

Much has been wrlten about iron and steel, the “climax™ industry in Troy — which involved WP 1, 2 & 3 on the Kill,
The first iron process was a sliting mill at WP 2 in 1807 — which evolved into the Albany Mail Factory under the
directorship of several investors, among them Erastus Coming and John Flack Winslow. In direct competition with the
Albany Mail Factory, the Troy Mail Factory at WP 3 {started in 1210 a5 Converse Iron Waorde) was by 1848 owned outdgh
by Henry Burden whase inventions dominated the whole industry, particolarly the rotary concentric squeeEer, a maclone for
working wrought iron adopéed by iron industries world wide; a hook-headed spike machine that fucled the rapid expansion of
railroads m the 11.5.; and a borseshoe machine capable of making 60 horseshoes o minute, that shod all Union mowsts io the
Cavil War (Burden expanded into WP la in 1862 — his “lower works™ were steam powered). But Comming & Winslow had the
Bessemer process — unparting it via engineer AL Holley from England in 1863 (after their iron factory rolled the plates for
the Monitor “of scrap iron, greatly superior in strength and parity 1o pueddied ship plates.™) The st Bessemer fumace m the
ULS. was erected at WP 1, opposite Burden's lower works.

Ome of the data resources we'd like to highlight is the enumerators’ manuscript for the 1855 Census of the State of New
York. Containing more detail than was eventally published, the notes give us a “postrait’ of activity alons the Kill. (See
typescript of the data appended.) The ‘heavy” indhestry at the first water privilege sites were also the heaviest capitalized and
paid the highest wages.™ Bul women at the textile sites in upstream Albia earmed as much as men in mills even farther
upstream. We have included all the Wynants Kill watcrshed industrics that were listed as being water powered — which
included a brace of small saw mills, none of which were sited at an cstablished water privilege but were, perhaps, on small
trabutary streams. Certainly, local building with wood still had to be accommodited, not to mention the large demand for
barrels, and pallets for the products, especially, of the iron works and commercial grist mills,

Postal Activity Data and Relnvention

We also want to highlight data of the United States postal system — a rich vein of information that is rarely mined by
scholars, To discover the signature of local activities we use the Official Registers which reported postmaster compensation,
a per centage of postal revenues, from 1816 to 1911.%

The graph of postmaster compensations for Sand Lake, for instance, shows the sigmature af the loss of the Glass Factory
tor Tare i late 1852, But what is instroetive is that the forunes of the factory apparently had becn declining for quite a while.
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(Though ot shown bere, mraphing the postal activity at the hamlet of Alps, a settlement of charcoal burners serving the glass
factory at WF 19, reveals the same downward slope but to a more diminished point )

For the story of reinvention, the most remarkable event is the birth of the post office in the village of Sand Lake called
Averill in 1880. Until then, the Sand Lake post office {open 1815) was still ted to the proximity of the glass factory. Cr data
show that while Sand Lake (at Sliter's Corners), with an index of 1, remained an average post office while Averill Park (in
whal had been the village of Sand Lake) over the course of a generation grew to twice the productivity of the average posl
office; and that both, together serving the same vicinity, trebled the national average. And this was the same period when the
fortunes of water-powered mill towns had 1o adjust o competition from steam power (stcam emgines were made in Trov) 1
also included the period after the flood of 1891 when the mills couldn’t afford te rebuild Morcover, during the whole period
the population of the area remained constant (2,000 + 20%). What cavsed this renewal and steady srowth?

The success of Faith Mills after 1897 certainly contributed to the rise in the area’s fortmes. Bl our concluston is thar i
was primanly due to a concerted development of the Town of Sand Lake a5 a summer resort. Beginmng in 1885, the postal
contract (#6272 Troy to Siephentown 23 14 miles, 6 tmes a week) allowed for 6 additional tips per week between Troy and
Sand Lake from July 1 to Sepiember 30,

James K. Averill was a key figure in this new industry: a local man, but also 3 powerful New York City lawyer, he began
to buy up farms formerly leased by the Patroon and to Ixap out cottage developments. He remamed the sites: the lake a1 Sand
Lake became Crystal Lake and the hamlet became Averill in 1880 and A venll Park in 1882 when he built a pleasure park on
the shores of the lake. He formed a company 10 build an electric trolley system to link with Troy in 1895 (the Troy & MNew
England Railroad which also carried freight, including raw material for the mulls). He joined the Wynants Kill Improvement
Association, a3 be had purchased land that included two dams, and insisted on the “pleasure grounds™ rights 1o se1 the
sumamer water level

These imtiatives of Averill's built on an infrastructure of hotels {(which were soon augmented by boarding houses,
holiday camps, and farm resorts) and a radition of stocking the Kill and the lakes with sports fish. By the carly 20" century, a
resort on Crooked Lake (served by the Sand Lake post affice) was a favorite hau of Teddy Roosevelt and other sportsmen
from Mew York City.

Conclusion

The postal activity in the upper Wynants Kill Walershed was never more than 15 of Troy's and, according to most other
measwres, it is a small stream with 2 modest history. But it industrialized rapidly. contributed greatly 1o the growth of Troy,
and responded quickly to reinvention as a recreational destination. The reservoir lakes along the Kill gave it an advanitage in
water-powered indusiry. They also gave it an esthetic advantage: the powerful men of Trov who owned the mills wers
attracted to buildimg their suamner, or even permanent, homes by the lakes — and thereby had a stake in chimging rather than
ahandoning enterprises. Under the aegis of the Wynants Kill Improvement Association, the small mills could be retooled on
an experimental basis. Indusiry in the watershed is now dominated by mining the glacial till o build roads and bl dimgs
elsewhere, even as the inhabitants celebrate the watery landscape with its robust ecology

" Henry Burden's overshot wheel of 1851 was ool the largest dismeter (two in Scotland wepe larger) but provided the most power [before
gearing down, 378 horsepower). Tt was 62 feel in diametes and 22 feet an breadth, and operated continuoualy, day and night, until the
1850, The Burden wheel was the subject of 4 graduate theses at RPI 1855- 1867, Lowis O Hunter, Waterpower: A History of Industrial
Power in the United Siates, 17801930, Charlottesville VA 1979, page 571

¥ See footnote §

" Crucial to the *invisible hand” a5 2 sensibie notion is that the individuals are rational (always, in the realm of numbess implicating scale)
and sclfish, or, let us say, honcet 1o "self” such & seIf being rational. In the case of mill ownpers along this stream, individual acts compile
lemselves in the aggregate to maximize the commuonal reslt in teroms of the scales of individual choice, The question is how the linkage
works bebwesn the individual acts and the cumulative pesult: i5 it primarily hicrarchical, acoording 1o a “mechanical” determinizm; or is it
social, working through personal. familial, instituional networks? We see that on the BGll, it is more social than hierarchical: the "Tirm’
(Chandlber) arising to deal with the fransscon costs less important than the efficiency of e landscape.

* Jededizh Morse, Geapraphy Made Easy, Boston 1813 “MNew York™ . 15X “there are few places which are more than 15 or 20 miles
from some boatsble or navigable stream ™
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*In 1650, water power rights at the mouth of the Kill had been taken away by the Patroon froam Thomas Chambers who had leazed bath the
farrm and the right to build a saw mill, and given to another man who, in tum, asked to be released from the agreement. and in 1656

Abraham Fietersz Vosburgh and Hans Jansz Van Rotterdsm bult the first recorded mill on the Wiymanie Bill.

“Te be published in 2005 under the auspices of the Renselaer County Historical Society, aunthor Robert I Lilly.

" *Thro' a Country Mot well Serded: The “Albany Road™ of 1752-1773" October 23, 1999, papers collected by the Rensselser-Taconic
Land Conservancy: Rensselser County Historical Society, Taconic Valley Historical Society, ed. Warren Hroderick

* “Merrint and others, agairst Brinkerhoff and Van Wagenen™ Cares in the Supreme Couwrt of the Stae of New-York, 17 Jobns CAlbany

1820) pages 306-325. Justice John Woodworth [Hunger, see note 1, page 154, ks apparently mistaken in bis citing “Justics: Wordsworlh"™];
"Where several owners of mill-seats on a sizeam, have 2 common ind equal right to the use of the water, thowgh no action liss againet the
e of a mill above, for any darmage which the owper of 2 mill helow may incidentally suffer from the reasonable use of the waler by ke
lonmer, for his own bencfit: yet the owner of the mill shove has not an unlimited right to use the water as be pleases, or io #10p the natural
Maw of the strexm, so s o destroy of render wseless the mills below. And i he shigs down his gate, and detaing the water For an
unreagonable e, o lets it out in seeh wmusual quantitites as 1o prevent be owner of the mill below from using it, or deprives him bo a
reasonable and Cawr participation in the benefits of the stream, Be will be answerable o the prty emjured 8o the extent al the koss be bae
therehy sustained.”

*In 1818, Mathaniel Adams (WP 3) contracied with Peter Moul for a Fee of $10 to draw down the pored on N Farm o Feed ingo the Kill. Tn
1820, a dam and contral gate were built at the oullel of Omey's Lake on Harman Snyder's farm, for a one time fee of $75 and $5 vearly 1o
open the gate in the moming and close it at night, Syder stipulated that a half inch bale be drilled in the gate bo provide & coxstant Now of
water for his cattle. Both initiatives would have benefitied WP 1 108

" The Mew ¥ork State Legislature by an act of 21 April 1846 created o Trust “for the benefit of persons owning or nesupying mall

privilepes on the stream called the Wyoants Kill" The first tustees were Erasius Cormang of Albamy Mal Works WP 2 John Townsend in
partnership with Henry Burden of Troy [non and Mail WE 3, and Stephen Warren of Albia Cotton Factory WE 7. The Association resnained
=clive through all the changes in water use; the final chapter has yet 1o be written about its rights to the Kill.

" CGlass Lake, one of two paintings of the hamlet, cal366, by Joseph Hidley whase famuily was a 1776 tenant of Reasselserwyvek, in the
Wynants Kill watershed, near Aries, “Orrey’s” [now Snyders] Lake. Rensselaer County Historical Society, Troy

 Great Britain in general powered its industrial revolution with steam, but Burden was probably familiar with large wates wheels in his
native Seotland

¥ Samuel Rerneck “Barden Iron Company, Troy" in Adohaws- Fedron Area Kurvey, Robert M, Vogel ed. Smithsonian DG 1573

M Daniel 0. Barnard, A Dircourse an the Iife, services and characier of Stephen Van Rensvelaer; deliversd Before The Albany Institae,

Aprit 15, 1839, With an krtorical sketeh of the colony and manor of Rergselaerwyck fn an gppendic. Alhany 1530

 Emma Hart Wiltard, a well known educator of young women in Vermond, determined in 1819 1o move her afforts o the headwaters of
oavigalion in New York State. A pamphlet "An address to the Public: Farticularly to the Members of the Legislatore of Mew Vork,
Froposing a Flan for Improving Female Bdocation™ published and dstribsed at e own expense gamensd suppon from Mormoe, Jefferson,
Adams and otber influential men. But, even though she cotablished a school a1 WaterTord on the west bank of the Hudson, morh of Albany,
the state: legislature would not fund hes. The City of Troy would, though, and raissd money by a special tx 1o buy her a building in 1821,
Brefore it was ready for eccupancy, she held classes at Eaton's Lyveeum of Matural History, and then, when his Rensselser School opened,
shie sludied with Eaton If Eaton’s passion was geology, Willard's was geogaphy, partcolarly mapping - in 1822 she and William
Channing Woodbridge collaborated on A Syatem of Dniversal Geography on the Frinciples of Comparison and Clarsificgiion, whech made
her farmouns. The B Willard School™s present site is near Albis in the Wynants Kill watcrshed. See Alma Loz, Emna Willord: Pioneer
Educarsr of American Women, Boston 19464,

¥ These: were the first surveys published anywhere that offered geclogic information for the benefit of farmers: crops to soil typing,

drainage, fertilizer &e. Ames Baton, A Geslogical and Agricultural Survey of Rensselaer Couenty in the Seare of New York, Albany 1322

" atmills such as the Lowell systeny, the vertical imtepration of a water power facility combines bydrological engineers fo malotain the

damz and canals with calibrated flows, the mill busildings, and perhaps even wheels amd transmissions; machinists mn'ﬁ;ingmm;jnuinip@_
the machines; and the managers of industrial enterprise.

" Amos Eatos, manuscript jounals, Remsselaer Polytechnic Institute, special collections

" To 1884, 3 president [John B Winslow 1863 1867 (WP 1, 23} a vive president {Travid Buel, Tr. 1835 1850 (WTF 40} and 11 trusices

{fohn Flack Winslow 1860- 1866 (WP 1, 2), David Bued, Ir. IE29- 1850 (W), Joseph b Warren 1885 (WP 8), Gurden Coming 1843-
1847 (WP T), Richard P, Hart 1826- 1843 (WP 1), John Augistus Griswold 1855 1856, 186001572 (W L), Isaac MeCombe, Ir, 186001851
(WPT. 15}, James Somerville Knowlson 1856- (WP 7), Francis S, Thayer 1868- 1880 (WP 1), Alexander [ Holley 1865 1867, 187-1882
(WF 1), Jodedsh Tracy 18241825 (WP 8)} were Wymants Kill mall owners. Burden's nephew, Henry, graduated From B, bt took hiz
practical course at Burden Iron Worke 15721879 in charge of the blast furnaces, thereafter mn charge of the furnaces at the competing

Albany [ron Company. But, by then, the Comings and the Hurdens had symbolized their interdegeadency, the Former donated the Tand for

-/



the Latter o buidd a Presbyterian church at WP 2 pwhich, now de-comsecraied, 3 causing new dispul: among, Cormangs and Burdens over
eanesstup]. Six ather Burdens entered RPLL from 1834 1o 1881, but did nol graduate, Hlenry 5 Mason, cd. Biographical Record of the
tifffcers and Graduaees of the Rensselaer Polyrechmic Trstituse {1824 18865 Troy 1847

= e Ages Hannoy, A Cheonicle of Industry on tee Bl River Vol 3051 Mos 1-2, Okl 1335 July 1936, Sunith College Studics in Hisiory.
The Mill Biver, like the Wynaniz Kill, was also 5 amall £lream (owing into the Connecticut River showe Marthampion) whose mills
diversilied, but chiefly within the textile fisld: wool, buttons, silk.

* See Judith A MeGaw, Mos: Wonderful Machine: Mechanization angd Sovil Change in Serkshire Paper AMaking, [801-15885, Princeton
N1 1987 ~ the paper making industry in the Housatonic valley of Rerkshire oounty, western hMassachusetts. Mefaw cotned the term
“mutmlly-made men” o her successful mill owners — equally applicable to thoss of the Wymants Kill.

® William Orr claimed to have invented and used the first pattern-bearing cylinder press For wallpaper, though he dide’'t patent it He also
claimed to have made the first mesehantable printing paper with wood fber (25% basz wood liber 1o75% rage) in 1854 Anthu fames
Weise, The City of Troy and ft5 Vicimiy, Troy 1885, pape 230,

* Gurdon Coming, 1781-1853, arrived in Troy in 1801 from Norwich T, served on the cormmiision bo build a bridge across the Hodson in
1514 on the Western canal Commesseon, as tstes and president of the Board of Education, trustes of RE, suppurter of the Troy Orphan
Agylum, director of the Farmers Banikc, and three terms &8 Mavor ol Troy.

* Joseph M. Warren's estate in Troy became the present campus for BPL where he had bocn a Trustes

¥ Richasd P Hart, 1836-1837 (WE L) Gurdon Comning, 1843-1847 (WP T Joseph M. Warren, 1851-1852 (WP E John A Griswald,
TESS- 1856 (WP-1; laac MeConibe, I, 1860-1861 (WF 7, 15) — Mayars of Troy :

" Bamueel T, Frocsan & Co, aucfioneers, “Industrial Real Futate, bsclupery and Bquipoeent in the West Sand Lake Plant (Waoolen Mill) of
the Thermo Mills, Inc., Located at West Sand Lake, M.Y." Boston 139 [endlection of the authors]

¥ The highest wages an the Wynants Kill had becn for the skilled glass Hewers {of German and Soote bentage to make sylnder and crown
glass. respectively) at the glass factory, WP 19 Wases were a5 hajgh as $60 a week. and the Factory employved as many ag & men, In 1825,
467 bosea of window plass were made and sold in ten days, valoed arcond 53 000, Bul the actory burncd in 1852, the business alrcady
having moved eastward into Massachusetts for meee Tuel, Rachel I3, Bliven et all, 4 fierouercefied Pecple, Bensselacr Cownty Historical
Society 1987,

= We generated 5 postal activity index of the village of Schaghticoke (on the Hoosick River, a large mill stream forming the northern
border of Rensselaer County) in 1980 for Beth Klopott's doctosate in history at the State University of Mew York, Albany, which showed a
plumamet in gross postages in the 1847 to 1849 period uncorrelated with any ather known Factors, On a huneh, we discovered tha the first
seven months of 1847 were devoid of precipitation in the area — the wiorst drought for the 50 year penod belore 1576, and a killer for
melistiics on an unregulatcd stream that had o metural reservoins, This sane droupht may have alfecied the tron indistries on the Wyraiils
Kill. e the extent that the next year Burden was able o by owl his parners and take conteol an WP S, Perhaps mindful of that drosphi, he
built a damg at bas own (nod the Association’ ) expense on the Wynants Fill upstream of WE 3 in 1849 to fomm Burden Pond for his own
Sroaber reserve

7TLS 7 June 1898, on printed letterhead “Averill Park Land Improvement Co." in the papers of the Wynants Kill Improvement
Association, Rensselaer County Historieal Society. “Itseems to me unlair that the pleasure grounds should be robbed of the attraction the
lake affords and the mills compelled 1o remain idle in the Summer months, o be operated by steam power, simply becanse there it no one
W OVErEeE OF govern Gabler's action. ... My pecuniary inderests warrant miy giving the matter persomal atiention ™

" The upstream bamlets: West Sand Lake, Averill Park, Sand Lake &c depend on household wells for water (though thers is town
sewemage} — oaly possible because of the good drinage, The lakes =il supgort swimming, boating, and ice and summer fishing — though
there if only one public access for all town ressdents at the Town of Sand Lake Beach, Reichards Lake (A verill's pleasure park on Crystal
Lake survives a3 a beach and eveat site open 1o the pubdic For & fee.) Property values on the lakes are high for the area, those around Crystal
Lake the highesr




